II. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER 

Jess Nelson, the plaintiff at trial, hereby petitions the Supreme Court 

of Washington State for review. 

III. CITATION TO THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Petitioner hereby requests review of the ruling of the decision 

by the Court of Appeals, Division No.1, NO. 71709-0-I, filed on September 

14, 2015. 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Standard of Review 

Determination of the amount of damages is within the province of 

the jury, and courts are reluctant to interfere with a jury's damage award 

when fairly made. Washington State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons 

Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 329, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). 

The Washington Supreme Court has ruled that a trial court's order 

of remitter or additur is to be reviewed de novo. 

The statutory standard of review (de novo) applies only 
when the trial court actually remits an award. When the trial 
court remits an award it invades the constitutional province 
of the jury, making the less deferential standard of review 
appropriate. 

Bunch v. King County Dep't ofYouth Servs., 155 Wn.2d 165, 176, 116 P.3d 

381 (2005). 



B. The appellate court erred in overturning the trial court's ruling 
that Erickson failed to improve his position at trial. This decision is in 
conflict with the Supreme Court's ruling in Niccum v. Enquist, 175 
Wn.2d 441, 286 P3d 966 (2012). 

The trial court properly ruled that the defendant failed to improve 

his position at trial. The appellate court, however, overturned the trial 

court's ruling and found that Nelson's offer of compromise included costs, 

contrary to the Supreme Court's holding in Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 

441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012). Thus, the issue before the Court is whether the 

trial court properly awarded attorney fees where it concluded, based on the 

analysis in Niccum, that costs cannot be included in an offer of compromise 

because costs only take statutory effect once a judgment is entered, and 

when a de novo appeal is filed, no judgment has been entered? 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

After filing suit against Erickson, Mr. Nelson placed the case into 

Mandatory Arbitration pursuant to RCW 7.06 et seq. and received an 

arbitration award of $43,401.59. Erickson requested a trial de novo. On 

September 25, 2013, Mr. Nelson made a written offer of compromise for 

$26,0001 to Erickson. 

1 The offer of compromise stated: "Pursuant to RCW 7.060.050 and MAR 7.3 Plaintiff 
Jess Nelson hereby offers to settle his claim against Defendant Michael Erickson and 
Jane Doe Erickson in the amount of $26,000 plus taxable costs incurred at arbitration. 
This offer is open for ten calendar days after receipt of service." 
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Erickson failed to respond to the offer of compromise and the case 

proceeded to trial. Judge Mary Yu presided over the trial. 

The jury returned a verdict as follows: 

(1) 
(2) 
(3) 
(4) 
(5) 

Stipulated medical expenses: 
Past medical expenses: 
Future medical expenses: 
Past noneconomic damages: 
Future noneconomic damages: 

$ 9,361.00 
$ 1,806.00 
$10,000.00 
$ 3,000.00 
$ 0.00 

The jury failed to award any monetary amount for future 

noneconomic damages. Therefore, Nelson moved the court for a new trial 

and/or for additur based on the jury's failure to award future noneconomic 

damages. The Court denied granting a new trial, but granted an additur in 

the amount of $3,000.00. 

With the $3,000 additur, the verdict was increased to $27,167. 

Along with statutory costs of $729.98, the Court entered judgment against 

Erickson in the amount of$27,896.98. 

After entry of judgment, Nelson moved for attorney fees pursuant to 

MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06. The Court denied the motion for fees based on 

Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441 (2012). However, the Court incorrectly 

included costs to Nelson's offer of compromise, which was contrary to the 

language in Niccum. As a result, Nelson moved for reconsideration, 

contending that the Court erred by including costs into Nelson's offer of 

3 



compromise. The Court invited a response and reply from the parties. After 

reconsidering the parties' materials, and "re-reading of Niccum[,]" Judge 

Yu granted Nelson's motion for reconsideration. In her order, Judge Yu 

wrote: 

This [Court] erred in the first instance by including costs in 
the offer. Mr. Nelson's offer of compromise was for 
$26,000.00. Defendant Erickson failed to improve his 
position at trial and [Plaintiff] is entitled to fees & costs. 

The Court then entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

awarding Nelson attorney's fees in the amount of $58,980.00 and costs in 

the amount of $4,488.90. Based on the verdict, additur, fees and costs, the 

Court entered a Second Amended Judgment for a total amount of 

$91,365.88. 

On appeal, the appellate court incorrectly distinguished this case 

from Niccum, instead ruling that Nelson's offer of compromise, unlike 

Niccum, constituted "a sum certain". Nelson v. Erickson, Court of Appeals, 

Division No. 1, NO. 71709-0-I, p. 19. In corning to this conclusion, 

however, the appellate court erroneously relied on an email sent on October 

24, 2013 (31 days after the offer was served and 21 days after the offer of 

compromise was deemed rejected by statute) by defense counsel that 

purported to confirm that the prior offer of compromise was $27, 522.19. 

See id. 
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VI. ARGUMENT 

In Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012), after 

obtaining an arbitration award in favor of the plaintiff, the defendant filed a 

request for trial de novo. Prior to trial, the plaintiff properly served the 

defendant with two offers of compromise. Id at 444. The final offer stated 

that it was "intended to replace the arbitrator's award of $24,496.00 and 

replace the previous offer of compromise, with an award of $17,350.00 

including costs and statutory attorney fees." !d. (emphasis added). 

During the trial de novo, the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff 

in the amount of $16,650.0. !d. The plaintiff moved for costs and attorney 

fees, asserting that the defendant failed to improve his position because the 

second offer of compromise included costs and statutory attorney fees, 

which meant that the trial court had to subtract $1,016.28 in costs and 

statutory fees from the $17,350.00 offer. !d. at 445. The trial court agreed, 

and reduced $1,016.28 from the $17,350 offer, resulting in an amount that 

was less than the jury verdict. !d. As a result, the trial court held that the 

defendant failed to improve his position at the trial de novo and awarded 

the plaintiff costs and attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 and RCW 7.06. 

!d. The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling. !d. 

The Supreme Court reversed concluding that it was improper to 

include costs in an offer of compromise because the term 'costs' is 
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statutorily defined, and 'costs' are only available after an arbitration award 

is reduced to judgment. !d. at 449. 

Niccum concedes that he was not entitled to costs on account 
of Enquist's request for trial de novo but insists that he was 
"not required to waive such costs in order to make an 
appropriate offer of compromise." Resp't's Suppl. Br. at 5. In 
other words, he should be free to ask Enquist for costs even 
though he could not prevail on the court to award them. 
Niccum misses the significance of the fact that the arbitrator's 
award was not reduced to judgment. Costs are only 
"allowed to the prevailing party upon the judgment." RCW 

4.84.010. "In general, a prevailing party is one who receives an 
affirmative judgment in his or her favor." Riss v. Angel, 131 

Wn.2d 612, 633, 934 P.2d 669 (1997) (emphasis 
added). Thus, when a party appeals the arbitrator's award, not 
only is there no judgment, there is also no "prevailing party" 
for purposes of RCW 4.84.010. Since Niccum did not enjoy 
"prevailing party" status, he did not have the right to 
include costs in his offer of compromise. 

Niccum's position rests on the premise that an offer of 
compromise that purports to include costs actually does 
so. There is, however, no statutory justification for 
segregating an offer of compromise into separate 
amounts corresponding to damages and costs. A party 
may ask for an extra $ 1,000 in an offer of compromise to 
cover its expenses, but those dollars do not constitute 
"costs" as that term is defined in RCW 4.84.010, i.e., sums 
"allowed to the prevailing party upon the judgment." They 
are just dollars. Thus, comparing the jury's $ 16,650 award 
to Niccum's $ 17,350 offer of compromise does not involve 
a comparison of damages to damages plus costs, as Niccum 
suggests, but rather a comparison of damages to the lump 
sum that he offered to accept in exchange for settling the 
lawsuit. 

The fact that a party is unable to include costs in an offer of 
compromise does not mean that the benefits of prevailing at 
arbitration will be extinguished by a request for a trial de 
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novo. Although a request for trial de novo prevents the party 
that prevailed at arbitration from seeking statutory costs, it 
does not prevent that party from considering its expenses 
when deciding what amount it is willing to accept in 
settlement. 

Niccum, 175 Wn.2d at 449-451 (emphasis added). 

The appellate court was wrong to interpret the offer of compromise 

using contract law by relying on an email that was dated over a month 

AFTER the offer of compromise. See id. The use of contract law in this 

scenario was specifically barred by the Supreme Court in Niccum: 

Ignoring this defect, the dissent maintains that Niccum was 
"free to make any offer of compromise he wanted," gesturing 
toward some sort of freedom of contract theory. The 
problem, of course, is that there was no contract. There 
was an offer, to be sure, but no acceptance. Indeed, RCW 
7.06.050(1)(b) is triggered only when "an offer of 
compromise is not accepted. "No private bargain makes the 
terms of Niccum's offer of compromise enforceable against 
Enquist. They are given legal effect only by statute. Niccum, 
therefore, must be able to point to some statutory authority 
for the inclusion of costs in his offer of compromise before 
a court is justified in reducing the amount of that offer and, 
on that basis, awarding costs and reasonable attorney fees 
against the party that rejected it. 

Niccum v. Enquist, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966, 971 (2012). In this case, 

Nelson's offer was deemed rejected by statute on October 3, 2013. Thus, 

relying on an email by Erickson's counsel from October 23, 2013 is wholly 

irrelevant to the offer of compromise. Any attempt by court's to apply 
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contract law to "interpret" the offer of compromise was rejected by the 

Niccum court, because there is no contract. 

The appellate court ruled that costs were included in Nelson's offer 

of compromise despite the fact that their ruling was directly contradicted by 

the plain language in Niccum. The Niccum Court specifically rejected the 

proposition that "an offer of compromise that purports to include costs 

actually does so." Id. at 450. "[T]he 'lack of a statutory entitlement' leaves 

a court with no basis for giving effect to the inclusion of costs in the offer." 

!d. at 451 (emphasis added). Since costs are a statutory construction, and 

the statute states that costs are not allowed unless and until a judgment has 

been entered and there is a prevailing party, costs cannot be given legal 

effect in an offer of compromise. Id. at 449-450. In the same way, in the 

instant case, the trial court correctly concluded that the offer of compromise 

was for $26,000. 

At trial, Judge Yu agreed after her "re-reading of Niccum" and 

declined to include costs to the $26,000 offer, since there was no statutory 

basis to do so. Therefore, Nelson respectfully requests that the Supreme 

Court review the appellate court's decision to overturn Judge Yu's ruling at 

trial. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

The Supreme Court in Niccum established that costs are a function 
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of statute, and pursuant to the statute, costs can only be awarded after a 

judgment has been entered. The Niccum Court further held that an offer of 

compromise cannot be segregated to separately set forth damages and costs, 

and that the plaintiff did not have the right to include costs in his offer of 

compromise. In the instant case, once Erickson requested a trial de novo, 

Nelson was no longer the prevailing party at arbitration, and therefore a 

judgment on the arbitration could not be entered and statutory costs at 

arbitration could not be awarded. Since costs could not be awarded at 

arbitration to Nelson, the offer of compromise which purported to include 

costs had no legal effect. That was the holding of Niccum, and applied to 

the instant case, the trial court correctly concluded that Nelson's offer of 

compromise was $26,000, which meant that Erickson as the party seeking 

de novo review failed to improve his position at trial. The appellate court, 

however, incorrectly applied contract theory to interpret the offer of 

compromise, and relied on an email sent 21 days after the offer of 

compromise was deemed statutorily rejected, in an attempt to "interpret" 

whether costs should be included in the offer. This analysis goes against the 

ruling in Niccum, and the appellate court's holding should be overturned.