Received Washington State Supreme Court

NOV 16 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

NO. <u>UJUSH</u> (Court of Appeals No. 71709-0-I)

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESS NELSON, an individual,

Petitioner,

vs.

MICHAEL ERICKSON and JANE DOE ERICKSON, and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents.

# APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Mary Yu, Judge

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

REED McCLURE

By Marilee C. Erickson Suzanna Shaub WSBA #16144 WSBA #41018

**Attorneys for Respondents** 

Address:

Financial Center 1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900

#

### I. NATURE OF THE CASE

After a trial de novo from a mandatory arbitration of claims arising from a motor vehicle accident, the trial court awarded the plaintiff his attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 on the grounds that he had improved his position at trial compared to the offer of compromise. Petitioner seeks review of an unpublished decision of Division I, which properly reversed the trial court's award of costs and attorney fees to the plaintiff. The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the plaintiff failed to improve his position at the trial de novo and remanded with instructions to vacate the MAR 7.3 attorney fees and costs awarded to plaintiff.

#### II. ISSUE PRESENTED

Should this Court review Division I's decision reversing the superior court's award of attorney fees to plaintiff pursuant to MAR 7.3 where defendant improved his position at trial relative to the offer of compromise when that decision does not conflict with any decisions of this Court?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS.

Plaintiff/petitioner Jess Nelson and defendant/respondent Michael Erickson were involved in an automobile accident. (CP 2) Nelson sued Erickson in King County Superior Court and moved the case to mandatory arbitration. (CP 1-4, 9-10) In May of 2013, the arbitrator awarded Nelson \$43,401.59. (CP 832, 928, 1081) Erickson filed a timely request for a trial de novo. (CP 12)

On September 25, 2013, Nelson presented Erickson with a written offer of compromise stating:

Pursuant to RCW 7.06.050 and MAR 7.3 Plaintiff JESS NELSON hereby offers to settle his claim against Defendant MICHAEL ERICKSON and JANE DOE ERICKSON in the amount of \$26,000 plus taxable costs incurred at arbitration. This offer is open for ten calendar days after receipt of service.

(CP 839) Erickson did not accept the offer, and the case proceeded to a jury trial. (CP 544)

On November 8, 2013, the jury returned a verdict in Nelson's favor in the amount of \$24,167. (CP 635) The court denied Nelson's motion for a new trial, but granted his motion for additur and awarded a \$3,000 additur. (CP 670-71) The court then denied Erickson's motion to reconsider. (CP 681-86, 728-29) The court entered an order and judgment in the total amount of \$27,896.98, which included \$24,167.00 for the jury verdict, \$3,000.00 for the additur, and \$729.98 in costs. (CP 723-24)

### B. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT PROCEDURE.

Following entry of the judgment, Nelson filed a motion for attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3 and RCW ch. 7.06. (CP 795-822) The

court initially denied the motion for fees. (CP 1005-09) Nelson moved for reconsideration, and the court invited a response and reply. (CP 1010-18, 1024) The trial court then granted the motion for reconsideration and determined that Erickson had not improved his position at trial relative to the \$27,167.00 verdict because Nelson's offer of compromise was for \$26,000 and excluded costs.\(^1\) (CP 1047-55) The court awarded Nelson fees in the amount of \$58,980.00 and costs in the amount of \$4,488.90. (CP 1047-55) On March 3, 2014, the trial court issued its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Regarding Attorney's Fees and Costs and entered a Second Amended Judgment in the total amount of \$91,365.88. (CP 1044-46, 1047-53) Erickson timely appealed. (CP 1056-80)

On September 14, 2015, Division I of the Court of Appeals issued its unpublished decision affirming the superior court's award of additur, reversing the superior court's award of attorney fees pursuant to MAR 7.3, and remanding with instructions to vacate the award of fees and costs to Nelson. A copy of the Court's decision is attached as Appendix A.

(CP 1055)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In a handwritten addendum to the order, the court stated as follows:

The Ct. grants the Motion to Reconsider based on a re-reading of <u>Niccum</u>. This Ct. erred in the first instance by including costs in the offer. Mr. Nelson's offer of compromise was for \$26,000.00. Defendant Erickson failed to improve his position at trial and Pl. is entitled to fees + costs.

Division I determined that Erickson improved his position at the trial de novo because the jury verdict did not exceed Erickson's offer of compromise in the amount of \$27,522.19 (\$26,000.00 plus the \$1,522.19 in costs awarded by the arbitrator). (Appendix A at 19) Nelson was therefore not entitled to a MAR 7.3 award of fees and costs. (*Id.*)

Nelson (hereafter "petitioner") now petitions for review under RAP 13.4. This Court should deny review.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

This Court will only accept review if the Court of Appeals' decision fits one of the four criteria in RAP 13.4(b):

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petitioner contends this case qualifies for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because it conflicts with *Niccum v. Enquist*, 175 Wn.2d 441, 286 P.3d 966 (2012). (Petition at 2) Division I's decision does not conflict with *Niccum*, and this Court should therefore deny review.

# A. Division I's Decision Does Not Conflict with Niccum v. Enquist.

To understand why Division I's decision is correct and does not conflict with *Niccum*, a brief discussion of MAR 7.3 is necessary. MAR 7.3 provides in relevant part:

The court shall assess costs and reasonable attorney fees against a party who appeals the award and fails to improve the party's position on the trial de novo.

MAR 7.3 (emphasis added). Similarly, RCW 7.06.060(1) provides:

The superior court shall assess costs and reasonable attorneys' fees against a party who appeals the award and fails to improve his or her position on the trial de novo.

When a party serves an offer of compromise after the arbitration, the compromise offer becomes the amount used to determine whether a party has improved his position at the trial de novo. RCW 7.06.050(1)(a) and (b). The statute provides as follows:

(b) In any case in which an offer of compromise is not accepted by the appealing party within ten calendar days after service thereof, for purposes of MAR 7.3, the amount of the offer of compromise shall replace the amount of the arbitrator's award for determining whether the party appealing the arbitrator's award has failed to improve that party's position on the trial de novo.

RCW 7.06.050(1)(b) (emphasis added).

Justice Talmadge explained the purpose behind MAR 7.3 as follows:

[The possibility of MAR 7.3 fees] should compel parties to assess the arbitrator's award and the likely outcome of a trial de novo with frankness and prudence; meritless trials de novo must be deterred.

Haley v. Highland, 142 Wn.2d 135, 159, 12 P.3d 119 (2000), concurring opinion.

Petitioner argues Division I's decision conflicts with this Court's holding in *Niccum*. (Petition at 2) He asserts *Niccum* supports his position that it is always improper to include costs in an offer to compromise. (Petition at 5-6) Division I properly rejected petitioner's arguments regarding the application of *Niccum* here. Not only is this case factually distinguishable from *Niccum*, the Court of Appeals' ruling is actually consistent with the *Niccum* holding. Petitioner's misguided arguments to the contrary do not create any basis for this Court's review.

In *Niccum*, the Washington Supreme Court addressed the propriety of subtracting costs from an offer of compromise that purports to include them before comparing that offer to the jury's award for purposes of MAR 7.3. 175 Wn.2d at 446. After the defendant sought a trial de novo from mandatory arbitration, the plaintiff made a confusing offer of compromise. *Id.* at 444. The offer of compromise was for "\$17,350.00 including costs and statutory attorney fees." *Id.* (emphasis omitted). The unspecified amount of "costs and statutory attorney fees" the compromise offer

purported to include was unknown at the time. *Id.* In determining whether attorney fees were warranted under MAR 7.3, the trial court subtracted \$1,016.28 in "costs" from the offer of compromise before comparing it to the \$16,650.00 jury award. *Id.* at 445. The Supreme Court reversed. *Id.* at 452-53. The *Niccum* Court held that the trial court should have made "a comparison of damages to the lump sum that he offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit." *Id.* at 450. The Court further explained:

It is our view that an ordinary person would consider that the "amount" of an offer of compromise is the total sum of money that a party offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit.

*Id.* at 452. Despite the confusing language about inclusive costs in the offer of compromise, the Court determined that the amount the plaintiff was willing to settle for was \$17,350, and that was the number the Supreme Court mandated be compared to the damages awarded at trial. *Id.* 

As Division I appropriately pointed out in this case (Appendix A at 18), the essential point in *Niccum* was to discourage litigants from making confusing compromise offers.

Niccum's position rests on the premise that an offer of compromise that purports to include costs actually does so. There is, however, no statutory justification for segregating an offer of compromise into separate amounts corresponding to damages and costs. A party may ask for an extra \$1,000 in an offer of compromise to cover its

expenses, but those dollars do not constitute "costs" as that term is defined in RCW 4.84.010, i.e., sums "allowed to the prevailing party upon the judgment." They are just dollars. Thus, comparing the jury's \$16,650 award to Niccum's \$17,350 offer of compromise does not involve a comparison of damages to damages plus costs, as Niccum suggests, but rather a comparison of damages to the lump sum that he offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit.

#### Id. at 450.

Division I's decision here is not inconsistent with *Niccum*, as petitioner argues, because the cases are factually distinct in a key way. (Petition at 2) In *Niccum*, the amount of "costs and statutory attorney fees" purportedly included in the offer of compromise was unspecified and unknown at the time of the offer. 175 Wn.2d at 452. Unlike in *Niccum*, however, the "taxable costs" included in Nelson's offer of compromise constituted a sum certain at the time of the offer. The plain language in Nelson's offer of compromise is that he would settle the case for "\$26,000.00 plus taxable costs incurred at arbitration." (CP 839) (emphasis added). The amount of the arbitration costs was a sum certain because those costs (\$1,522.19) had already been awarded by the arbitrator and were known by both parties at the time of the offer. (CP 832, 928, 1081)

This is an important factual distinction from *Niccum*. When the offer of compromise is a known sum certain as here, there is no concern

that the purposes of RCW 7.06.050 and MAR 7.3 will be frustrated. A party presented with an offer of compromise for a sum certain can make an educated and informed decision about what number he needs to better at trial. The party can make a reasoned decision regarding whether accepting an offer is in his best interest. As *Niccum* pointed out, "Confronted with an offer purporting to contain unspecified costs, a party will have difficulty determining what position it must improve upon to avoid paying reasonable attorney's fees if it elects to continue to trial." *Id*.

Petitioner also erroneously contends that Division I's decision conflicts with *Niccum* because it impermissibly used contract law by relying on an e-mail confirming the details of the offer of compromise. (Petition at 7-8) First, nowhere in the opinion does the appellate court state that it relied on principles of contract law, nor does it even reference contract law. (Appendix A) Rather, Division I relied on the plain language of petitioner's offer of compromise to interpret its terms ("Nelson's offer was quite clear. He offered to settle his case for \$26,000 plus taxable costs incurrent in arbitration"). (Appendix A at 19) The court merely used the October 24, 2013 e-mail as confirmation of the terms of the offer of compromise.<sup>2</sup> (*Id.*; CP 839, 938) In other words, it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The e-mail from Erickson's counsel to Nelson's counsel provided, "... I understand that your current demand is: Your prior Offer of Compromise of \$26,000 plus fees and costs awarded at arbitration (\$27,522.19)...." (CP 938)

used the e-mail to confirm the amount for which petitioner was willing to settle. *Id*.

The fact the offer of compromise had been rejected by the time of the e-mail does not make the e-mail irrelevant, as petitioner contends, nor does it make its content any less accurate. (Petition at 7-8; CP 839) In fact, Erickson's counsel requested that Nelson's counsel inform him if the content of the e-mail was incorrect, and there is nothing on the record to indicate that Nelson's counsel disagreed with that assessment. (CP 938) It was only several months later and after the court awarded additur that Nelson sought to manipulate the amount for which he would have settled at the time of the offer of compromise.

Because Division I's decision can be reconciled with *Niccum* based upon key factual differences between the cases, Division I's ruling does not conflict with *Niccum* and there is no basis for this Court to grant review.

# B. DIVISION I'S DECISION IS CORRECT BECAUSE NELSON FAILED TO IMPROVE HIS POSITION AT THE TRIAL DE NOVO.

Division I correctly held that Erickson improved his position at the trial de novo for purposes of MAR 7.3 fees and costs. (Appendix A at 19) Contrary to petitioner's arguments, *Niccum* did not dictate that if an offer of compromise references costs, such amount must be ignored in the MAR

7.3 award calculations. The *Niccum* Court engaged in a lengthy analysis as to why a party's classification of its offer is not relevant to the end comparison. 175 Wn.2d at 449-51. Rather, the *Niccum* Court focused on the need to compare the amount that the party making an offer of compromise would actually settle for the amount of the damages awarded at trial. *Id.* at 452. In determining whether attorney fees were warranted under MAR 7.3, the *Niccum* Court required that the trial court compare the damages to "the lump sum that he offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit." *Id.* at 450. The *Niccum* Court further explained that:

It is our view that an ordinary person would consider that the "amount" of an offer of compromise is the total sum of money that a party offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit.

#### *Id.* at 452.

Any interpretation of confusing language in an offer of compromise must come back to this bedrock principle of the *Niccum* decision. Under the facts in *Niccum*, that analysis resulted in this Court refusing to subtract unspecified costs from the offer as plaintiff urged. Regardless of the language about inclusive costs, this Court determined that plaintiff was willing to settle for \$17,350, and \$17,350 was the number the Supreme Court mandated be compared to the \$16,650 in damages awarded at trial. *Id*.

In this case, Nelson's offer of compromise also included language about costs, and the Court of Appeals properly determined that petitioner's offer included the amount of these "costs." The arbitration award here specifically included \$1,522.19 in costs. Although Nelson labeled part of the money that he wanted in settlement as "taxable costs," those additional amounts are simply additional dollars because Nelson did not have a right to "costs," as defined by RCW 4.84.010 at that point in the litigation. However, he was entitled to make an offer of compromise for any amount he chose, including one that ensured that money spent for the arbitration was included. Nelson's offer of compromise was, at its heart, a settlement offer, and he could make it whatever amount he wanted. As the *Niccum* Court noted:

A party may ask for an extra \$1,000 in an offer of compromise to cover its expenses, but those dollars do not constitute "costs" as that term is defined in RCW 4.84.010, i.e., sums "allowed to the prevailing party upon the judgment." They are just dollars.

175 Wn.2d at 450. Likewise, the "taxable costs incurred at arbitration" by Nelson are not "costs" as defined in RCW 4.84.010; rather, they are additional dollars that Nelson made part of the amount for which he was willing to settle. (CP 839) The amount is a known quantity, and Nelson plainly stated in his offer of compromise that he was willing to settle for \$26,000 plus that additional amount.

Despite the potentially ambiguous cost language, it is clear from the wording of petitioner's offer of compromise that he was not willing to settle for only \$26,000.00, as the trial court erroneously determined.<sup>3</sup> (CP 839, 1048, 1055) Rather, a straightforward reading of petitioner's offer of compromise reveals that Nelson would settle the case for \$26,000.00 plus the costs awarded at arbitration, which was \$1,522.19. (CP 832, 839, 928, 1081) The only reasonable reading of the offer of compromise is that petitioner was offering to settle the case for nothing less than \$27,522.19. Although it is unclear why Nelson chose to phrase the offer of compromise the way he did, it is disingenuous and contrary to the express language of the offer of compromise for Nelson to insist he would have settled the case simply for \$26,000.00.

The unusual factual scenario and linguistic gymnastics in this case present the type of confusion that the *Niccum* Court sought to avoid when it reduced the analysis to a fairly simple question: what would petitioner have accepted to dismiss the case? That amount then replaces the amount of the arbitrator's award and is used to compare to the jury verdict. Petitioner's offer of compromise clearly reveals that he would have settled for \$27,522.19.

<sup>3</sup> See Finding of Fact No. 1. (CP 1048)

A straightforward application of RCW 7.06.050 and the holding in *Niccum* reveal that Erickson did improve his position at trial. Comparing the damages awarded at trial (\$27,167) to the lump sum petitioner offered to accept in exchange for settling the lawsuit (\$27,522.19), as required by *Niccum*, Erickson in fact improved his position at trial. As Division I correctly determined, attorney fees to Nelson were therefore not warranted.<sup>4</sup> Petitioner's arguments to the contrary are misguided and do not create any basis for this Court's review.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly reversed the trial court's award of MAR 7.3 attorney fees and costs to plaintiff/petitioner Nelson. Division I's decision does not qualify for review under RAP 13.4. Respondent Erickson respectfully requests that this Court deny review.